Strengthening our health communication systems: Pandemic lessons for Melbourne's west





Acknowledgments

HealthWest Partnership acknowledges the traditional custodians of the lands that we work on, the Wurundjeri, Bunurong, and Wadawurrung peoples of the Kulin Nation, and pay our respects to their cultures, their elders past and present and to all other Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

Author:

Dr Anita Trezona

Editors:

Tanya Sofra

Anna Vu

Gail O'Donnell

Graphic Design:

Adele Del Signore

Suggested citation:

HealthWest Partnership (2021) *Strengthening our health communication systems: Pandemic lessons for Melbourne's west.* HealthWest Partnership: Footscray, Victoria.





Contents

- 4 **Executive summary**
- 8 1. Background
- 9 **2. Methods**
- 9 2.1 Review focus
- 9 2.2 Search strategy
- 10 2.3 Framework for synthesising the evidence

11 3. Results

- 11 3.1 Search results
- 11 3.2 Document characteristics

12 4. Evidence summary

- 12 4.1 Health communication systems
- 18 4.2 Partnerships for communication
- 19 4.3 Communication practices
- 21 4.4 Community engagement and mobilisation
- 25 4.5 Communication and engagement with CALD communities

30 5. Recommendations

34 6. Appendices

- 34 Appendix 1: Search Strategy
- 36 Appendix 2: Global communication guidelines, strategies and frameworks

38 7. Bibliography



Executive summary

Background

Effective health communication has been a significant challenge for governments and other health authorities during the COVID-19 pandemic. In Australia, the communication response has lacked clarity, coherence and coordination, which has impacted on people's ability to access, understand and apply health information and advice.

The purpose of this project was to identify the core elements of coordinated health communication approaches, and subsequently inform more responsive and effective communication in Melbourne's West, particularly with culturally and linguistically diverse communities. A scoping review was undertaken to identify evidence on health communication systems and best practice in communication and community engagement in the context of pandemics and other health emergencies.

Key findings

Partnerships for communication

A theme of the review was the need for coordinated, multisectoral partnerships as a central component of communication systems and responses in pandemics and other public health emergencies. To be effective, partnerships need a:

- coordination platform and implementation mechanisms
- communication strategy that outlines clear roles and responsibilities for all partners
- training and development strategy and resources to support implementation
- monitoring and evaluation strategy.





Community engagement and mobilisation

The review showed that community engagement is a critical element of effective public health emergency responses, as it enables stakeholders to:

- Reach marginalised and at-risk communities with prevention messages/measures
- Build trust with disenfranchised communities
- Reduce fear, stigma and discrimination
- Prevent the exacerbation of existing inequalities.

Effective community engagement depends on community-centred, culturally responsive and participatory approaches that involve communities in the design, delivery and evaluation of preparedness and response activities. There is also a need to strengthen and support community leadership capacity and community governance structures.

A prominent theme of the review was the need to work with trusted community members and leaders to build trust and mobilise communities. A wide range of community engagement methods and approaches were identified, including:

- Door-to-door and street outreach
- Community meetings/forums
- Attendance at community-led events
- Community radio
- Social media and mobile apps

Communication and engagement with culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities

The review showed that in addition to the above communication and engagement approaches, effective communication and engagement with CALD communities requires:

- Use of interpreters and adequate and timely translation of messages and materials
- Engagement of a culturally and linguistically diverse workforce, including CALD liaison officers, CALD advisors and bicultural workers
- Collaborating with multicultural and settlement services
- Engagement with and use of ethnic media.
- Involvement of community leaders and faith/religious leaders to disseminate information and mobilise communities
- Co-designing messages and resources with communities
- Utilising a range of communication channels, including online, face-to-face, telephone and community meetings.



Elements of a health communication system

National leadership and governance

State leadership and governance

Governance & coordination mechanisms

Budget & resourcing

Policies and procedures

Strategic planning

Capacity building

Monitoring & evaluation

Regional and local partnerships, networks and stakeholders

Communication activities and practices

Local implementers, responders, communities

Community engagement and mobilisation activities and practices

While federal and state governments have overall legislative and leadership responsibility for public health communication during pandemics and health emergencies, regional and local level partnerships have a critical role to play.

Recommendations

Evidence from this review demonstrates the need for strong communication systems, as well as strategic and coordinated communication as part of an overall response to pandemics and other public health emergencies. While federal and state governments have overall legislative and leadership responsibility for public health communication during pandemics and health emergencies, regional and local level partnerships have a critical role to play in the coordination and implementation of communication responses, and can significantly bolster national and state communication systems and ensure alignment of messages and responses.

Recommendations for governments

To ensure effective and coordinated communication, governments need to:

- invest in and establish critical health communication system infrastructure
- establish a clear chain of command from the highest level of government down to regional and local level coordination groups and partnerships
- develop a comprehensive communication and community engagement strategy in collaboration with key stakeholders
- ensure all official advice is translated into community languages
- identify the training and development needs of key stakeholders
- undertake regular monitoring and evaluation of communication systems and responses.

Recommendations for regional authorities and partnerships

Regional authorities and partnerships should:

- establish regional health communication systems, including communication teams
- advocate for the integration of regional level partnerships and coordination mechanisms into overarching government coordination structures
- involve local community leaders and members
- develop and implement a regional communication and community engagement strategy
- support regional partners to undertake effective communication activities
- identify the training and development needs of regional partners
- undertake regional level monitoring and evaluation of communication and engagement activities.

Recommendations for local implementers

Local implementing partners should:

- support the implementation and evaluation of regional communication and community engagement strategies
- establish health communication specific roles
- recruit a team of bicultural workers
- identify and involve trusted local community leaders and influencers
- utilise a wide range of communication approaches and formats to communicate and engage with communities.

1. Background

On 30 January 2020 the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the coronavirus (COVID-19) disease outbreak a Public Health Emergency of International Concern, and within six weeks of the initial outbreak had declared COVID-19 a global pandemic⁽¹⁾. The World Health Organization has designated risk communication and community engagement as one of eight key pillars of pandemic preparedness and response⁽²⁾ and a core function that WHO Member States must fulfil under International Health Regulations⁽³⁾.

Despite global recognition of the importance of communication for pandemic preparedness and response, and the lessons learned from previous pandemics and outbreaks, communication during the COVID-19 pandemic has been a significant challenge for governments and other health authorities across the world⁽⁴⁾. In Australia, the communication response has lacked clarity, coherence and coordination. In addition, public health advice has changed frequently, often contained overly complex information, and at times contradictory recommendations⁽⁵⁻⁷⁾. This has significantly impacted people's ability to access, understand, and apply relevant information, including on COVID-19 symptoms, testing requirements, effective prevention measures, and the restrictions and health orders in place to minimise the spread of infection. The situation was compounded for culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities, due to the lack of information provided in community languages, the failure of officials to conduct timely translation of public health advice, and the lack of engagement with CALD communities in developing message and communication materials that responded to their needs^(8, 9).

There is an urgent need to improve public health communication systems and practices in Australia to ensure effective and equitable responses to the current COVID-19 pandemic, as well as future pandemics, health emergencies and other public health issues. This has been particularly evident in Melbourne's west, where there has been a lack of clear and culturally appropriate health communication provided to CALD communities. The purpose of this project was to undertake a scoping review to identify the core elements of coordinated health communication approaches, and subsequently ensure more responsive and effective communication in public health emergency situations and on public health issues more broadly, particularly with culturally and linguistically diverse communities.

Project purpose:

- identify core elements of coordinated health communication approaches,
- ensure more responsive and effective communication.

2. Methods

2.1 Review focus

A scoping review was undertaken between September and October 2021 to identify evidence on health communication systems and best practices in communication and community engagement in the context of pandemics and other health emergencies. Specifically, the review aimed to identify evidence on:

- Health communication systems, including the infrastructure, resources, partnerships and coordinating mechanisms required to ensure effective communication
- Effective communication strategies and approaches with CALD communities
- Effective community engagement strategies and approaches with CALD communities

2.2 Search strategy

A systematic search process was undertaken to identify relevant peer reviewed and published grey literature. A database search was performed using EBSCOHost, PubMed and SCOPUS to locate journal articles. A webbased search was performed using the Google search engine to identify the following document types:

- COVID-19 communication and community engagement frameworks, guides and guidelines
- COVID-19 communication and community engagement toolkits and resources
- Reports, evaluations or case studies on successful communication systems, methodologies and campaigns
- Reports on successful community engagement strategies during COVID-19
- Policy statements, position papers and recommendations for communication approaches in COVID-19 and future pandemics or health emergencies

The specific search terms and inclusion/exclusion criteria used to guide the search are provided at (Appendix 1).

A systematic search process was undertaken to identify evidence on health communication systems and best practices in communication and community engagement in the context of pandemics and other health emergencies.

2.3 Framework for synthesising the evidence

The following framework was developed to guide the mapping, extraction and synthesis of the evidence found in this review. This framework was informed by the WHO interim guidance and readiness checklist on communication and community engagement for COVID-19 preparedness and response⁽¹⁰⁾.



3. Results

3.1 Search results

The database search returned 3,829 articles. After duplicates were removed, 2,383 abstracts were screened against the inclusion and exclusion criteria for eligibility. Of these, 125 articles met the inclusion criteria and were downloaded for further screening. A total of 63 articles were deemed relevant and included in the final review.

In addition, 40 documents were identified through the grey literature search, including evaluation and research reports, global guidelines and frameworks, strategies, policy briefs, issue papers and other advisory documents.

In total, 103 documents were included in this review to inform an understanding of the elements of communication systems and best practices in communication and community engagement.

3.2 Document characteristics

Of the 63 included journal articles, there were 18 reviews^(3, 11-27) (including systematic, rapid and scoping reviews), 23 descriptive studies⁽²⁸⁻⁵⁰⁾ (including observational/cross sectional population studies and desktop analyses), and five intervention studies⁽⁵¹⁻⁵⁵⁾. There were also a significant number of commentary or perspective papers⁽⁵⁶⁻⁶⁶⁾, many of which were informed by firsthand experiences of responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, and which were included to provide additional context to the review findings. Other studies included intervention protocols⁽⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹⁾, case studies ^(9, 70) and a Delphi study⁽⁷¹⁾.

Of the 40 included grey literature documents, 17 were communication and community engagement guidelines^(10, 72-74), guides⁽⁷⁵⁻⁸³⁾ and frameworks/ strategies⁽⁸⁴⁻⁸⁷⁾. Two were regional or country strategies^(88, 89), eleven were research or evaluation reports on pandemics or health emergencies ^(5, 6, 90-98), nine were policy, issue or background papers ^(4, 7, 8, 99-104), and one was a communique⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ with recommendations for action.

Overall, the documents were published in, or related to activities in over 22 countries, including nine in Australia^(5-9, 58, 96, 99, 100), ten in the United States^(28, 33, 37, 52, 54, 55, 61, 63, 66, 71), five in China^(30, 39, 49, 50, 59) and four in Canada^(21, 43, 48, 69). There were five documents from the European region^(16, 41, 42, 51, 67), and six relating to the African region^(19, 29, 31, 35, 45, 47), while 41 had a global focus (or were not geographically bound).

There were 22 documents that contained explicit recommendations for improving communication systems or communication and community engagement practices during pandemics or health emergencies^(6-9, 12, 14, 16, 29, 31, 48, 59, 60, 71, 73, 90, 92, 93, 96-99, 105)



4. Evidence summary

4.1 Health communication systems

There were only a small number of studies that focused specifically on health communication systems. These were six peer reviewed studies, including two reviews^(3, 17), three descriptive studies^(34, 35, 50), and a Delphi study⁽⁷¹⁾. Of the grey literature documents, only two contained a specific section on communication systems. These were both WHO guideline documents^(10, 73).

There were several studies that focused on communication and community engagement with a focus on multiple elements of communication systems^(19, 26, 29, 30, 46), as well as several guidelines and frameworks (See Appendix 2). The systems elements most frequently discussed in the literature were governance and leadership, coordination mechanisms, capacity building, and monitoring and evaluation. There was also a substantial focus on communication planning within global guidelines and frameworks, but information on policies, procedures, budget and resourcing was lacking overall.

Leadership, governance and coordination

Communication in public health emergencies is a national government responsibility, being one of the core functions of WHO Member States as signatories to the International Health Regulations⁽⁸⁵⁾. Global guidelines and frameworks emphasise the importance of effective leadership, governance and coordination for public health communication in emergencies. This is supported by findings from systematic reviews and evaluations of country and regional level responses to pandemics and other health emergencies^(26, 73).

This requires strong leadership from the highest levels of government. The studies in this review highlighted that in many countries, national governments provide overarching leadership on pandemic responses through their Health Ministries and departments or disease control centres, while many also devolve some responsibilities to state, provincial and district level governments (19, 30, 44, 46, 85).

Key Lessons

Strong leadership from national and state governments is needed

Governance and coordination mechanisms specific to communication should be established

Regional and local coordination groups can bolster communication systems

Coordination groups should be multisectoral and involve local organisations

Establishing national multisectoral coordination mechanisms is an essential component of effective health communication systems, which may include committees, task forces and working groups^(19, 26, 85). Depending on the systems of government and political context within countries, regional and local coordination groups are likely to be needed⁽⁸⁷⁾. Two systematic reviews on risk communication highlighted the creation of specific emergency task forces and committees as critical mechanisms for coordination and collaboration between governments and other agencies^(3, 26). They also highlighted the importance of establishing local governance structures and/ or utilising existing structures and networks to coordinate local level action.

A study on the pandemic response in Oman reported on successful district/ regional level governance through their national network of district health committees⁽²⁰⁾. These are multisectoral committees that coordinate with the national Ministry of Health, which acted as a platform for collaboration during the COVID-19 pandemic, including on local communication planning and coordination. Similarly, studies reporting on pandemic responses in Vietnam and India also highlighted the involvement of national governance structures, supported by provincial, district and commune level committees^(44, 46).

An expert panel convened to advise on system level planning, communication and coordination for pandemics in the United States also encouraged the utilisation of local healthcare coalitions/regional health authorities as platforms for coordination during pandemics and health emergencies, with support from governments to develop and implement local level pandemic plans⁽⁷¹⁾.

Planning

Effective health communication planning includes establishing a communication team with clear roles and responsibilities^(26, 46), reviewing and strengthening communication systems⁽¹⁹⁾, providing training for communication personnel⁽⁷³⁾ and developing a comprehensive national communication and community engagement plan^(26, 44). State and district level plans are also needed where sub-national governments are responsible for managing health emergencies⁽⁸⁷⁾ and these may need to be adapted and tailored further to address local contexts and needs^(26, 29).

Key Lessons

Public health communication teams should be established within government health departments, and relevant local organisations

National and state communication strategies should be developed, with clear roles and responsibilities for all stakeholders

Regional and local level communication strategies are needed to address local contexts and needs

There are several global guidelines that provide guidance on developing communication and community engagement strategies and plans^(73, 82, 85, 87, 106). The World Health Organization advises that planning should occur in advance, be a continuous process and focus on both preparedness and response. Experience from previous pandemics indicates that countries that establish communication teams and plans during the pre-pandemic phase are better equipped to respond to outbreaks when they occur⁽¹⁷⁾.

WHO also advocates the need to plan collaboratively with a broad range of stakeholders and involve communities through participatory processes⁽⁷³⁾. While there is no universal approach for developing a strategy, they should:

- be informed by a community needs assessment
- define clear goals and objectives
- identify key target audiences
- tailor messages and dissemination approaches to specific communities
- include a monitoring and evaluation plan
- define roles and responsibilites of key stakeholders for implementing the plan (references)^(73, 79, 82, 85, 87, 106).

Policies and procedures

There was very limited evidence found on policies and procedures in this review. The WHO guidelines on risk communication and community engagement state the need for clear operating procedures as part of health communication systems⁽¹⁰⁾, and two studies reported on the importance of establishing these as part of an effective and coordinated communication response^(17, 29). This included the need to have procedures endorsed by all implementing partners, to enforce their utilisation and to review them routinely so they can be adapted to suit the emergency and context.

A systematic review reported broadly on the need to develop legislation, regulations, policies and frameworks that support health emergency communication⁽³⁾. Another study suggested that communication functions need to be embedded within public health emergency policies and plans⁽³⁰⁾. However, information on the specific characteristics and components needed in policies and procedures was not provided.

Key Lessons

Communication functions should be embedded within public health policies and plans

Clear operating procedures for public health communication are needed

Governments and implementing partners should allocate a specific budget for communication and engagement

Budgets should include funding for translation and interpreters

Budget and resourcing

WHO guidelines on communication in health emergencies strongly recommend the need for a defined and sustained budget as a core component of financing emergency preparedness, response and recovery⁽⁷³⁾. However, the evidence on budgeting and resourcing in health emergencies was limited. Two studies assessed budgeting practices as part of pandemic response evaluations across Africa and South East Asia, and found that very few countries allocated a budget specifically for risk communication activities, which constrained their responses^(17, 19).

A study conducted in the United States on responses to the Zika virus outbreak noted that the allocation of adequate financial and staffing resources was a critical structural enabler of effective communication, and that allocating specific funding to support outbreak communication activities was needed⁽³⁴⁾. Three studies reported on budgeting issues, noting that direct communication and community engagement approaches can be resource intensive and that inadequate resourcing was a barrier to reaching the most vulnerable communities in public health emergencies (17, 34, 35). Similarly, two reports on communication and engagement with culturally and linguistically diverse communities in New Zealand reported that allocating funding specifically for translation and interpreter services is an essential component of health emergency preparedness and response, but that it is frequently overlooked by governments and other organisations (92, 94). The review found no specific evidence or guidance on the level of financial and staffing resources required to ensure effective communication and engagement at national, regional or local levels.

Monitoring and evaluation

Effective monitoring and evaluation systems and processes are needed in health emergencies to: inform an understanding of community needs and preferences; seek ongoing feedback from communities; track public perceptions and concerns; monitor the reach of messages across various channels; assess the appropriateness and effectiveness of communication approaches; and evaluate their impact on attitudes, perceptions and behaviours^(76, 78, 80, 81, 85, 86).

Key Lessons

Monitoring and evaluation activities should form part of the planning process

Monitoring is needed to understand community needs, and track public perceptions, rumours and media activity

Evaluation should be undertaken regularly to determine reach and effectiveness of communication, including impact on perceptions and behaviours

Post-pandemic evaluations should be undertaken to assess systems capacity and performance and inform future improvements

*An **infodemic** is too much information including false or misleading information in digital and physical environments during a disease outbreak.

More info:

www.who.int/health-topics/infodemic#tab=tab_1

Several guidelines and strategies provide useful guidance, tools and resources to support monitoring and evaluation, including conducting needs assessments, setting up community feedback mechanisms, media monitoring, message testing, social listening and rumour tracking^(78, 80, 85).

The UNICEF Vaccine Misinformation Management Field Guide also provides in-depth guidance on developing and implementing social listening systems to monitor and analyse misinformation and rumours in order to disrupt infodemics^{(80)*}. It includes monitoring and data collection tools, an evaluation matrix and a set of process and outcome indicators. One study also reported on the development of a 30-item assessment checklist for evaluating crisis communication during pandemics, which includes questions relating to sense-making, public leadership, health professionals and expert voices, interactions with stakeholders and instructions for the public⁽¹⁵⁾.

The evidence highlights the need to develop a set of process and impact indicators to monitor the implementation and outcomes of communication and community engagement activities⁽²⁹⁾. The WHO COVID-19 Global Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy contains a comprehensive monitoring and evaluation framework with indicators and measures across six domains: i) information and communication; ii) knowledge and understanding; iii) perceptions; iv) practices; v) social environment; and vi) structural factors ⁽⁸⁵⁾.

Comprehensive evaluations of communication responses following a pandemic or health emergency are critical for assessing overall system capacity and performance, and informing improvements in preparation for future events^(2,73). Several countries have participated in voluntary joint external evaluations (JEE) of their risk communication in health emergencies, which examines performance across five key areas: i) risk communication systems; ii) partner and internal coordination; iii) public communication; iv) community engagement; and v) addressing perceptions, risky behaviours and misinformation^(17,30). The JEE tool and process is intended to assess country capacity to prevent and respond to health emergencies, but may also be useful for evaluating regional and local responses.

Capacity building

The World Health Organization recognises capacity building as a core element of effective communication systems and strongly recommends that preparation and training should be organised regularly for all personnel and stakeholders involved in emergency communication⁽⁷³⁾. This should include training and information on key concepts and terminology, guidelines and operating procedures relevant to the health emergency, and the use of appropriate methods, approaches and technologies^(10, 78).

One of the key objectives of the WHO COVID-19 Global Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy is to reinforce capacity and local solutions⁽⁸⁵⁾. These guidelines outline a number of key actions that need to be taken to build the capacity of organisations, professionals and communities, including: identifying the skills and capacities needed in different contexts;

facilitating participatory needs assessments to identify training priorities; developing and implementing training activities and resources; facilitating peer-to-peer learning exchanges; and establishing mentoring systems.

Another key focus of the World Health Organization is the establishment of a global workforce to manage infodemics. They have developed an Infodemic Competency Framework that establishes key competencies for the workforce and provides guidance on how to strengthen infodemic management capacity through hiring practices, staff development and human resource planning⁽⁸⁶⁾. While it has an infodemic focus, the framework provides useful insights on the knowledge and skills required for effective communication in emergencies more broadly.

This review identified evidence on capacity building for organisations, professionals and community members, including through training and orientation, information and resources, and ongoing support through supervision and professional networks^(26, 73, 85, 86, 94). Multiple studies reported on training and orientation for personnel involved in communication and community engagement, including central coordinating teams, health care workers, and community members^(19, 26, 29, 44). One study conducted in Vietnam reported on the provision of 24/7 support to people involved in communication and community engagement via hotlines and other digital communication channels⁽⁴⁴⁾.

A systematic review reported on the use of simulation exercises of various scales to test the integration of communication functions into public health emergency preparedness and responses, including communication channels and the strength of collaboration and coordination between various stakeholders⁽³⁾. One study reported on a long-term national capacity building initiative between the United States and China following the SARS outbreak. The project aimed to build China's risk communication capacity, including through technical advice and support, the development of guidelines and resources and training workshops⁽³⁰⁾. A key lesson from that project was the need to establish and train a communication workforce that can be deployed in emergency situations.

Key Lessons

Needs assessments should be undertaken to determine the training and develop needs of stakeholders involved in communication and engagement activities

Training should be provided to stakeholders including on key concepts, terminology, methods and approaches

Ongoing supervision and mentorship should be provided to people involved in communication and engagement activities, including community leaders and members

Simulation exercises are useful methods of testing communication systems, protocols and coordination capacity



4.2 Partnerships for communication

A key theme within the literature was the need for coordinated, multisectoral partnerships to support effective communication systems and responses in pandemics and other public health emergencies. Key partnership considerations, approaches and potential actors are outlined in various global guidelines, strategies and frameworks^(74-76, 78, 81-83, 85, 87, 104). These emphasise the importance of utilising existing partnership structures to ensure collaborative and coordinated health communication and community engagement activities. Relevant partners will vary according to local contexts, but should be multisectoral and may include health and community organisations, government organisations, migrant councils, local media, health planners, researchers, community groups and associations, faith-based organisations, and community leaders.

To be effective, partnerships need to establish a coordination platform and mechanisms, develop a communication and community engagement strategy, and determine clear roles and responsibilities for all partners involved in its implementation. They should also play a role in identifying training and development needs, providing training and resources to support effective implementation of communication activities, as well as monitoring and evaluating these activities (74, 78, 85). The UNICEF field guide on COVID-19 communication and community engagement provides detailed guidance on the potential roles and responsibilities of stakeholders involved in pandemic responses, including health system structure roles (i.e. governments and health units/teams) and stakeholder roles and responsibilities, with an emphasis on community health and health promotion organisations⁽⁷⁸⁾. WHO guidelines on the role of community engagement in response to COVID-19 outlines key actions that should be undertaken by local partnerships to plan and implement collaborative activities⁽⁷⁴⁾.

A number of studies in this review reported on the role and success of partnerships during COVID-19 and other disease outbreaks^(5, 6, 14, 23, 29, 36, 44, 48, 91). One study conducted in Australia evaluated an interagency partnership approach to COVID-19 communication with CALD communities⁽⁶⁾. The partnership involved a Primary Health Network (PHN), Refugee Health Service and major hospital and health service. The evaluation reported that pre-existing relationships, commitment by partners, a shared goal and the ability to meet virtually were key enablers of the partnership. A key challenge reported was that the collaboration was labour intensive and impacted on other work responsibilities and commitments. The evaluation also identified the need to strengthen the partnership through formalised governance structures and processes, including a terms of reference, goals, membership and evaluation⁽⁶⁾.

Another study conducted in Canada reported on a province-wide partnership of integrated health and social service centres and their support for young people and their families during COVID-19⁽⁴⁸⁾. The key goals of the partnership were to translate and amplify government messages to reduce the spread of infection, develop content to support the psychosocial needs of young people and their caregivers, and create a sense of community for young people and



caregivers through digital and social media. An evaluation of the partnership identified the following key enablers:

- an existing partnership platform with a diverse range of partners, including links to youth advisory groups
- the establishment of COVID-19 communication response team
- existing communication strategies, policies and procedures that could be adapted to the COVID-19 context
- young people informed the communication strategy, goals and actions⁽⁴⁸⁾.

A study describing lessons learned from the Ebola outbreak in West Africa highlighted the need to invest in strategic partnerships to achieve short and long-term goals, and noted that partnerships with community members, religious leaders, journalists and community radio were critical to the success of their response⁽²⁹⁾. Similarly, a study on the COVID-19 pandemic response in Vietnam showed that local partnerships involved health and community sector organisations, local governments, police, women's unions and youth unions⁽⁴⁴⁾.

4.3 Communication practices

Several guidelines, strategies and other guiding documents provide evidence-based advice on effective communication practices in pandemic and other health emergency contexts^(73, 75-79, 81, 82, 87, 94, 106). These highlight critical components of effective communication practices, including the need to:

- understand community concerns, perceptions and sources of distrust/ misinformation
- identify community information needs
- utilise participatory processes to determine effective communication approaches
- tailor approaches to social, cultural and political contexts
- test and adapt messages
- use a wide range of communication channels and
- establish feedback mechanisms to continuously monitor and evaluate communication approaches and messages.

Key guidelines and empirical studies also reported the need to combine top-down communication approaches with bottom-up approaches to facilitate trust, accountability and two-way communication that is tailored to local needs and contexts^(13, 49, 104).

Methods and approaches

This review identified a wide range of communication channels, methods and approaches that are recommended and have been utilised as part of pandemic communication, including television, community radio, print media, mass campaigns, dedicated websites, social and digital media, national hotlines, city message boards, newsletters, mail drops, public/community meetings, phone trees and text message services^(34, 50, 67, 73, 75, 77, 87, 94, 104)

Key guidelines and empirical studies also emphasise the need to work with journalists, local media, and utilise trusted public spokespeople^(10, 75, 76).

A rapid review reported on 42 case studies on communication and engagement activities conducted globally, noting that several had been effective in preventing community transmission or addressing other community needs. These included community campaigns, local radio, social media and mobile apps, and online resources⁽²³⁾. A systematic review found national hotline services to be an effective method of two-way communication, as well as for monitoring public reactions and opinions to inform communication and engagement activities⁽³⁾. In India, district control rooms were set up to provide direct phone communication with high-risk individuals, which included multilingual staff to support migrant and CALD communities⁽⁴⁶⁾.

A strong theme in the literature was the importance and effectiveness of community radio and working with local journalists for engaging in two-way communication, particularly for reaching the most vulnerable communities in health emergencies^(29, 35, 40). One study reported on the use of entertainment-education campaigns as part of a COVID-19 health communication strategy across various regions⁽⁷⁰⁾.

These campaigns adapted existing radio and television dramas to incorporate COVID-19 specific health messages, which were complemented by other communication activities such as live call-in shows, short videos and digital engagement. The study reported entertainment education to be an effective method for reaching a wide audience and increasing knowledge and awareness through storytelling that involves trusted and familiar characters and that is culturally and contextually relevant.

Social media and digital technology

Social media and digital technologies are critical tools for effective communication during pandemics and health emergencies. The World Health Organization strongly recommends the use of social media to raise awareness, engage the public, facilitate peer-to-peer communication, as well as to monitor and respond to rumours, public perceptions and concerns⁽⁷³⁾.

There were a number of studies that reported on the use of digital and social media as a useful medium for disseminating health information and seeking feedback from communities. For example, as part of the COVID-19 response in Wuhan, the municipal government developed an app for residents, which was used to seek public feedback, conduct sentiment analyses, and inform the development of key messages to address community concerns. It also provided a list of relevant hotlines that residents could contact for further support⁽⁴⁹⁾. Mobile apps such as WeChat and WhatsApp were found to be effective methods for communicating prevention messages with some communities ^(5, 19, 23, 50, 68). Studies also reported on the effective use of social media, including platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram to promote prevention messages as well as to engage in dialogue with communities^(34, 45).



Two studies reported on the use of expert-led social media campaigns. The first study was conducted in Denmark and reported on the development and implementation of a physician-led Facebook group, involving more than 200 volunteer medical physicians.

The Facebook group provided a platform for community members to ask questions and engage directly with doctors during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as a mechanism for monitoring and responding to misinformation⁽⁶⁷⁾. The second study was conducted in the United States and reported on a social media campaign (Facebook, LinkedIn and Instagram) led by a multidisciplinary team of experts, including epidemiologists, doctors and nurses⁽⁵⁴⁾. The social media campaign was utilised to disseminate health information as well as enable information exchange between followers and health professionals.

Both studies acknowledged that expert-led social media campaigns are useful due to the perceived credibility of health professionals, and their ability to challenge misconceptions and misinformation in a public forum.

4.4 Community engagement and mobilisation

Community engagement is a critical component of effective communication, as well as for mobilising communities during public health emergencies more broadly. Several guidelines and strategies have been developed to guide effective community engagement in pandemics and health emergencies^(74, 76-78, 81, 82, 85, 87, 88). These emphasise community-centred, culturally responsive and participatory approaches that involve communities in the design, delivery and evaluation of preparedness and response activities. They also acknowledge the role of community engagement in reaching marginalised and at-risk communities, building trust, reducing fear, stigma and discrimination, and preventing the exacerbation of existing inequalities.

Communities play a crucial role in responding to and managing outbreaks in pandemics. Effective community engagement involves understanding community concerns and perceptions, identifying their information and support needs, developing a comprehensive plan and supporting communities to adopt public health advice, prevention behaviours and control measures⁽¹⁰⁴⁾.

Effective community engagement requires that two-way communication systems and processes are in place to enable ongoing feedback and dialogue between implementing organisations and community members. There is also a need to strengthen and support community leadership capacity and community governance structures, which requires governments and other organisations to provide resourcing, training and networking opportunities, and supportive policies and environments^(14, 74, 94).

Methods and approaches

Studies and guiding documents on community engagement consistently reported the need to work with trusted community members and leaders in order to build trust, mobilise communities and disseminate information⁽¹³⁾, ^{35, 104)}. They also frequently reported the importance and effectiveness of working with faith leaders and religious institutions to engage with communities(17, 29, 35, 97, 98). Two systematic reviews identified a range of other key leaders to involve in community engagement activities, including local Chiefs and Elders, women and women's groups, local authorities, health workers, youth groups and traditional healers⁽²⁶⁾, community-based organisations, community health committees and volunteers(14). A number of studies reported on the mobilisation of community volunteers as an effective strategy for achieving wide reach with community engagement activities, particularly in low resource settings^(20, 31, 40). However, a number of papers also cautioned against the over-reliance on volunteers, recognising the risk of overburdening community members, as well as the potential for issues such as gatekeeping, filtered messaging and difficulties interpreting technical advice to negatively impact engagement^(5, 7, 92).

This review identified a wide range of methods and approaches used to undertake community engagement, including door-to-door and street outreach, community meetings/forums, attendance at community-led events, community radio, social media and mobile apps (i.e. WhatsApp)^(14, 35, 41). A key strategy utilised in response to COVID-19 in Vietnam was 'supervision groups', in which groups of 2-3 volunteers were set up in villages to provide outreach support to 40-50 designated households, including to share information on prevention and control measures⁽⁴⁴⁾. These 'supervision groups' were supported by the local committees, as well as overarching direction from a national committee.

Door-to-door and street corner outreach was also utilised as part of a response to the Zika virus outbreak in the United States, which allowed informants to communicate with the public directly and disseminate communication materials⁽³⁴⁾. The authors of the study also reported that hosting community meetings and setting up stalls at community events were effective methods of engaging the community. A study reporting on key lessons from the Ebola outbreak in West Africa also reported that hosting community meetings was an effective method of community engagement and information dissemination⁽³⁵⁾.

Monitoring and responding to community perceptions and misinformation

Lack of trust in governments and other public authorities coupled with fear and uncertainty during health crises exacerbates the spread of misinformation, rumours and conspiracies^(17, 35, 102). When communities distrust authorities and public health advice, they are unlikely to adopt the prevention measures necessary to stop the spread of infection⁽⁸¹⁾. In order to build trust, organisations involved in pandemic responses need to understand community perceptions, concerns and motivations, as well as sources of misinformation. This requires the implementation of systems and processes for tracking and responding to misinformation, rumours and conspiracies as a core element of overarching communication systems^(26, 47, 80). These systems should include in-person and online methods for seeking feedback on and monitoring rumours, which can include social media, online/phone surveys, mobiles apps (i.e. WhatsApp), focus groups, community meetings and forums^(76, 78, 80, 81).

An evaluation of risk communication and community engagement efforts in countries across South East Asia highlighted various strategies that were used to track rumours and public perceptions, including regular opinion polls, hotlines, social media monitoring, and feedback from volunteers⁽¹⁷⁾. A review of pandemic preparedness and responses in West Africa also reported on the effective use of a community-led data collection system to track rumours and community perceptions, which in turn informed communication approaches to address misconceptions⁽³⁵⁾.

One study reported on the implementation of a social listening strategy to address the COVID-19 infodemic in the East and South African region⁽⁴⁷⁾. It detailed the development of a social listening framework, mapping of resources to support monitoring activities, and establishing standards for consistent listening, analysis and dissemination. It also described the specific listening channels and types of data tracked across five countries. A guide developed by UNICEF also provides in-depth guidance on developing and implementing social listening systems to monitor and analyse misinformation and rumours to disrupt infodemics⁽⁸⁰⁾.



Page 23 Strengthening our health communication systems

Considerations for effective communication and community engagement

Collaborate with communities

- Ensure communities are engaged in ongoing discussions about pandemic responses in order to understand sociocultural contexts, concerns and beliefs
- Involve communities in the co-design of communication and engagement strategies/plans, messages and resources
- Establish mechanisms for seeking regular feedback from communities
- "Top-down" communication from public officials must be supported by "bottom-up" approaches to establish trust and respond to local needs
- Identify and involve trusted community leaders and influencers to mobilise communities and disseminate messages

Useful channels and approaches

- Incorporate social media and traditional media to provide information in a range of formats, including audio, video, and other visual formats
- Utilise social media to engage the public, facilitate peer-to-peer communication and disseminate messages
- Use a range of methods for communicating and engaging with communities, including online, phone-based (i.e. phone trees, text-messaging, mobile apps) and face-to-face methods (i.e. door-to-door, community forums, events)
- Involve a broad range of professionals as public spokespeople, as their trust and credibility will vary across communities
- Utilise community radio to deliver messages and two-way communication with communities

Effective messaging

- Messages need to be tailored to community context and values
- Messages should be transparent about uncertainties relating to risks, events and interventions
- Messages should contain specific actions people can take to protect their health
- Avoid the use of jargon and technical terms without simplifying messages too much
- Public health messaging needs to be consistent and should be repeated across various sources and platforms to build trust and mitigate rumours
- Messages need to be continuously adapted to respond to changing community needs over time (this should be informed by community feedback)



4.5 Communication and engagement with CALD communities

There were 21 articles or documents that reported specifically on, or had a substantial focus on communication and community engagement with CALD and migrant communities^(5-9, 16, 21, 32, 33, 39-41, 44, 53, 56, 92, 94, 96, 99, 100, 102). A number of critical factors for effective communication and engagement with CALD communities were identified in the review, including:

- the need for adequate and timely translation and use of interpreters
- establishment of a culturally and linguistically diverse workforce, including liaison officers, advisors and bicultural workers
- collaborating with multicultural and settlement services
- use of and engagement with ethnic media, involving community leaders and faith/religious leaders to disseminate information and mobilise communities
- co-designing messages and resources with communities
- utilising a range of communication channels, including online, face-to-face, telephone and community meetings.

Experiences of CALD communities in Australia during COVID-19

There were several research reports and policy documents that reported on communication and community engagement with CALD communities in Australia during the COVID-19 pandemic^(5, 7-9, 96, 99). A study conducted by the University of New South Wales investigated engagement with CALD communities during the COVID-19 pandemic and reported a broad range of issues and barriers. It reported that information was not available in all languages and that translation of materials had been slow, unreliable and at times inaccurate and inconsistent, that ethnic media had been underutilised, resources had not been tailored to literacy needs, that many people did not have access to social media or virtual networks and that newly arrived migrants were likely to experience the greatest challenge accessing information as they have not yet established networks or connections with service providers⁽⁹⁶⁾.

In terms of opportunities to improve communication with CALD communities, the study highlighted the role of settlement staff, case workers, bilingual workers and community leaders in synthesising and disseminating information, as well as the importance of involving community leaders in the co-design of messages and as conduits for feedback about community concerns⁽⁹⁶⁾. They also noted the need to work with community organisations to identify the best strategies for disseminating information, which may include social media, WhatsApp groups, phone calls and community meetings. The authors made several recommendations to improve communication relating to the vaccination program, including identifying community ambassadors and training them on how to have vaccine conversations with hesitant people.

An evaluation study that explored the impact of a collaborative initiative to engage CALD communities in Queensland in COVID-19 health communication⁽⁶⁾ reported on the channels and sources of information

utilised, as well as barriers and enablers to communication. It found that communities accessed information through a range of channels but that their preferred channels were community leaders, faith leaders and family, who they sought information from via social media and WhatsApp groups. It also found that the most trusted sources of information were those produced by the Queensland Government, followed by community and faith leaders. Community leaders were also seen as important conduits for sharing official information sources in ways communities could understand and relate to. Key barriers to communication included the lack of translated materials, the information overload, and the release of conflicting information/advice, while key enablers included existing networks and relationships, the involvement of community leaders to translate and simplify messages, information provided in audio and video formats, the dissemination of information through social media, and regular information sharing by the Queensland Government⁽⁶⁾.

Similar findings relating to challenges and enablers were reported in a national study on communicating with CALD communities in Australia⁽⁹⁾. The key challenges identified included translated information not being available in community languages, the lack of testing of translated materials by CALD communities to ensure they were accurate and easy to understand, underutilisation of trusted messengers (i.e. community leaders), underutilising appropriate methods and channels (i.e. ethnic media, videos), and the lack of CALD advisory groups to inform communication activities. The key enablers reported included connecting community leaders with health authorities for support, resourcing community leaders to lead translation and communication in their communities, and collaborating with ethnic media⁽⁹⁾.

The Ethnic Communities' Council of Victoria (ECCV) highlighted various communication gaps and issues with the Victorian response to COVID-19, including a lack of coordination overall, and a failure to involve multicultural organisations in pandemic planning and implementation^(8, 99). They also noted that CALD communities were often unable to obtain translated information and that service providers had difficulty accessing interpreters in a timely manner, which prevented access to services and information. ECCV advocated the need to strengthen communication by developing an integrated communication strategy with multicultural organisations, identifying priority communities and tailoring approaches to their needs, allocating funding to develop and deliver messages in languages, and engaging community connectors and bicultural workers to mobilise communities⁽⁸⁾.

The Migration Council of Australia released a policy brief that highlighted the impact of racism and discrimination on migrant communities, and that the mistrust it causes influences their willingness and ability to engage with health services for information⁽⁷⁾. As a way of addressing this, they emphasised the need to engage health workers from diverse backgrounds to deliver public health messages through community outreach activities. They also emphasised the need to tailor communication approaches to the needs of specific communities, taking age, gender, preferred language, and

migration status into account and to balance official public health advice with other trusted sources. They also reported the role of community leaders in disseminating information, but cautioned about some limitations of this approach, including the potential for 'gatekeeping' and filtering, as well as gaps in knowledge and ability to interpret technical information⁽⁷⁾.

Similar issues and experiences were outlined in a report by the Settlement Council of Australia, which focused on newly arrived migrant and refugee communities⁽⁵⁾. They noted that official government resources were not sufficient to reach newly arrived communities, that translations were often inaccurate, and that frequently changing prevention measures and restrictions created confusion and anxiety for communities. The primary sources of non-government COVID-19 resources for migrant and refugee communities were mass media communications (particularly the SBS), settlement services and community leaders. The distribution methods used by settlement services and community leaders included social media and mobile apps such as WeChat and WhatsApp, phone calls to clients, online teleconferencing platforms such as Zoom and Skype, and in-person communication by trusted individuals. The report acknowledged that community and religious leaders are a trusted source of information and key influencers of behaviour and decision-making in newly arrived communities, but also raised concerns about over-relying on community leaders and the risk of entrenching power in a few individuals⁽⁵⁾.

As translated materials were not readily available in the early stages of the pandemic, settlement services were required to play a key role in translating information, which was facilitated by bicultural and bilingual workers and community leaders. However, settlement services were not adequately resourced to do this work, and indicated that additional funding is needed to manage the communication workload and ensure that community leaders and volunteers are remunerated for their involvement.

Communication campaigns and interventions

There were five peer reviewed articles that described communication interventions or strategies targeting culturally and linguistically diverse communities. A study conducted in Qatar examined the strategies employed by government to communicate with migrant workers, and described the use of a multi-strategy campaign to disseminate COVID-19 information in various languages⁽⁴⁰⁾. It found the use of radio and volunteers, developing and distributing videos via Facebook, and partnering with trusted community and religious leaders were effective methods for communicating information with CALD communities.

In the United States, a national organisation developed culturally relevant digital content targeting the Latinx community to raise awareness about the COVID-19 pandemic⁽³³⁾. The intervention used a combination of website blogs, peer-modelled stories, podcast episodes and Tweetchats to engage people in conversations and action on the pandemic. They evaluated the digital content using Google Analytics and social media measurement

tools and found it generated a significant amount of website traffic and engagement. A study conducted in Indonesia also reported on a social media campaign in which materials were developed in nine local languages, approved by traditional elders and disseminated via Facebook⁽⁵³⁾. An evaluation of the materials indicated they were more accessible, easier to understand, supported people to comply with health protocols and reduced beliefs in conspiracy theories.

A study conducted in Taiwan examined top-down and bottom-up multilingual COVID-19 public health messages targeting Aboriginal communities⁽³²⁾. It found that very few public health messages were delivered in Aboriginal languages, and those that were did not adequately address the values or concerns of Aboriginal people. In contrast, communication resources developed in Aboriginal language by Aboriginal communities, such as cartoon videos and outdoor signs, as well as direct communication by Aboriginal teachers were more effective in conveying messages to communities.

Finally, a study conducted in Norway reported on a communication campaign targeting Somali migrants, which utilised Somali-speaking ambassadors, video resources and a network strategy to disseminate information about COVID-19⁽⁴¹⁾. The study showed that ambassadors were critical for establishing credibility with the community, and that to gain the trust of communities they needed to be perceived as competent and in a position of authority (for example doctors and teachers). The local Mosque was an important place for engaging communities and seeking feedback on campaign videos, and there was an agreement within the community that videos could only be distributed through private networks, and only among the Somali community. In parallel to the videos, ambassadors promoted key messages via community radio and through face-to-face conversations. While the study did not report outcomes of the campaign, it did indicate that the videos reached a large audience, with over 20,000 views in total.



Page 28 Strengthening our health communication systems

Additional considerations for effective communication and community engagement with culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities

- Involve migrant, refugee and multicultural organisations as key members of governance/coordination groups and partnerships
- Recruit a diverse workforce to lead communication and engagement activities with CALD communities, including bicultural workers, CALD advisors and liaison officers
- Information should be translated into as many community languages as possible, and interpreters should be made available to facilitate communication with people engaging with services
- Partner with culturally and linguistically diverse communities to develop, test and disseminate information, tools and resources in community languages
- Identify and involve trusted community leaders and influencers to mobilise communities and disseminate messages, including faith/ religious leaders and bicultural workers
- Provide regular opportunities for community members to meet with community leaders and ask questions or raise concerns relevant to their communities
- Work with ethnic media to disseminate information and enable two-way communication with communities
- Implement public campaigns that challenge racism and discrimination and promote community cohesion
- Avoid blaming and stigmatising specific communities when developing and implementing targeted communication and community engagement activities

5. Recommendations

Evidence from this review demonstrates the need for strong communication systems, as well as strategic and coordinated communication as part of an overall response to pandemics and other public health emergencies. This includes the need to establish the necessary infrastructure, resources and workforce capability before the onset of an outbreak or emergency, and sustaining effective action throughout the response and recovery phases.

Experiences from past pandemics and outbreaks provide opportunities to examine and apply the lessons learned in order to improve communication systems and practices in Australia. There is also a significant amount of scientific, policy and practice guidance provided by the World Health Organization as the global body responsible for leading and coordinating global action, as well as by other health, development and humanitarian organisations involved in implementing communication and community engagement responses at the community level.

While federal and state governments have overall legislative and leadership responsibility for public health communication during pandemics and health emergencies, regional and local level partnerships have a critical role to play in the coordination and implementation of communication responses, and can significantly bolster national and state communication systems, and ensure alignment of messages and responses. Communication systems at national, state and regional levels are required, which should incorporate clear governance and coordination mechanisms, a communication strategy, resourcing for communication and engagement activities, training and other capacity building opportunities for local implementers, and monitoring and evaluating of communication systems and responses.

Recommendations for governments

- Invest in and establish critical health communication systems infrastructure, including communication teams/units, a skilled workforce with defined roles and responsibilities, a dedicated budget/resources, governance and coordination structures, policies and protocols, and monitoring and evaluation systems.
- Systems infrastructure needs to be sustained over the long term to
 ensure adequate pre-emergency planning and capacity to respond
 when emergencies arise. Permanent public health communication teams
 made up of technical experts can also play an ongoing role in building
 communication capacity of partners and key stakeholders, and lead
 communication activities on public health issues more broadly.
- Embed communication functions within pandemic and health emergency legislation and plans, as well as other relevant public health plans and policies.

- Whole of government, multisectoral coordination structures (i.e. taskforces, committees), should incorporate communication specific functions and should have a clear chain of command from the highest level of government down to regional and local level coordination groups and partnerships.
- Develop a comprehensive communication and community engagement strategy in collaboration with key stakeholders, outlining key goals, objectives and multi-method approaches, as well as clear roles and responsibilities for all stakeholders involved in implementation. This should be supported by guidelines, resources and tools to support effective communication, including how to identify and respond to misinformation.
- Ensure all official advice is translated into community languages and disseminated widely through various channels, including official websites, social media, ethnic media, and hotlines. Translations should be performed by professional translators to ensure they are accurate, and produced in a timely manner to minimise confusion and the spread of misinformation. Funding should also be provided to multicultural and migrant organisations/services to facilitate translation of information and resources at the community level.
- Avoid using public communication to politicise emergency situations all communication/messaging should be focused on instilling trust in the public and providing communities with the information they need to respond to the emergency. This can be supported by using a range of trusted spokespeople to communicate health advice, including health professionals and community leaders.
- Utilise social media, traditional media and a wide range of other communication approaches and formats to communicate and engage with communities, including audio, video, phone-based and face-to-face methods.
- Allocate funding to a wide range of community and non-government organisations specifically to support communication and community engagement activities at local community level.
- Identify the training and development needs of key stakeholders involved in communication and engagement activities, and provide training activities accordingly.
- Undertake regular monitoring and evaluation of communication systems and responses. This should include a focus on:
 - Community needs, public perceptions, rumours and media activity
 - Reach and effectiveness of communication messages, including impact on community perceptions, attitudes and behaviours
 - Appropriateness and effectiveness of communication and engagement methods and approaches
 - Post-pandemic evaluations of systems capacity and performance to inform improved responses to future emergencies

Recommendations for regional authorities and partnerships

- Establish regional health communication systems, including communication teams with defined roles and responsibilities, a dedicated budget, coordination groups, policies and protocols, and monitoring and evaluation systems.
- Advocate for the integration of regional level partnerships and coordination mechanisms into overarching government coordination structures.
- Partnerships and coordination groups should involve a broad range of organisations and sectors, including local community leaders and members.
- Develop and implement a regional communication and community engagement strategy, outlining key goals, objectives and multi-method approaches, as well as clear roles and responsibilities for all stakeholders involved in implementation. These should be consistent with overarching government strategies, whilst also responding to local contexts and needs.
- Support regional partners to undertake effective communication by developing communication tools and resources, and establish criteria for screening and sharing communication materials to ensure they contain credible and accurate information.
- Utilise social media, traditional media and a wide range of other communication approaches and formats to communicate and engage with communities, including audio, video, phone-based and face-to-face methods.
- Identify the training and development needs of regional partners involved in communication and engagement activities, and provide training activities accordingly.
- Undertake regional level monitoring and evaluation of communication and engagement activities. This should include processes for:
 - Seeking feedback on community concerns and perceptions
 - Monitoring rumours and misinformation
 - Assessing the reach and effectiveness of communication messages, including impact on community perceptions, attitudes and behaviours
 - Assessing the appropriateness and effectiveness of communication and engagement methods and approaches

Recommendations for local implementers

- Participate in regional partnership and coordination groups, and support the implementation of regional communication and community engagement strategies.
- Establish health communication specific roles within your organisation.
- Develop health communication policies and procedures, including clear roles and responsibilities for relevant staff.
- Recruit a team of bicultural workers to lead communication and engagement activities with CALD communities.
- Identify and involve trusted local community leaders and influencers to mobilise communities and disseminate messages.
- Utilise social media, traditional media and a wide range of other communication approaches and formats to communicate and engage with communities, including audio, video, phone-based and face-to-face methods.
- Translate your organisation's communication resources into community languages, and ensure interpreters are available to support communication with service users.
- Participate in and support evaluation of regional and local level communication and community engagement activities.



6. Appendices

Appendix 1: Search Strategy

• •				
Peer reviewed literature search				
Inclusion criteria	 Published between 1 January 2011 and 30 September 2021 Published in English Must contain the terms COVID-19 (or equivalent terms) or pandemic or epidemic or health emergency or disaster and communication Full-text articles only Studies on effective communication systems, technologies, methodologies, strategies and campaigns Studies on effective community engagement approaches 			
Exclusion criteria	 Published prior to 2011 Languages other than English Publication types: editorials, conference abstracts, letters, blogs and news articles Does not contain the terms COVID-19 (or equivalent terms) or pandemic or epidemic or health emergency or disaster and communication Studies on imaging systems Studies on clinical/diagnostic systems Studies on bioinformatics or Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Studies on corporate communications during pandemics Studies testing specific messages and message framing 			
Grey literature search				
Search phrases	 Effective communication systems in pandemics Communication systems in health emergencies Coordinated communication in health emergencies Health communication in pandemics Community engagement in pandemics Communication with CALD communities COVID Communication with migrant communities COVID COVID communication strategies with CALD and migrant communities 			
Inclusion criteria	 Published between 1 January 2011 and 30 September 2021 Published in English Must contain the terms COVID-19 (or equivalent terms) or pandemic or epidemic or health emergency or disaster and communication 			

• Will select relevant articles from first 50 results per search phrase

	 Published prior to 2011 		
	Languages other than English		
	 Publication types: editorials, conference abstracts, letters, blogs and news articles 		
	 Does not contain the terms COVID-19 (or equivalent terms) or 		
Exclusion	pandemic or epidemic or health emergency or disaster and		
criteria	communication		
	Studies on imaging systems		
	Studies on clinical/diagnostic systems		
	 Studies on bioinformatics or Geographic Information Systems 		
	 Studies on corporate communications during pandemics 		
	 Studies testing specific messages and message framing 		

Search terms and logic

	Terms	Field
	COVID-19 OR COV-19 OR coronavirus OR pandemic OR epidemic OR "health emergency" or disaster	
AND	"Communication* system" OR "mass communication" OR "campaign" OR "health communication" OR "health literacy" OR "communication method*" OR "Communication Information Technology" OR "crisis communication" OR "alert system" OR "early warning system"	Title/Abstract
AND	English	Language
NOT	Editorial OR letter OR comment OR news article	Publication type
NOT	Bioinformatics OR "Geographic Information System"	Title/Abstract

Appendix 2:

Global communication guidelines, strategies and frameworks

The global guidelines, strategies and frameworks identified through this review have been summarised here as they provide comprehensive guidance on establishing health communication systems, as well as evidence-based communication and community engagement practices in public health emergencies.

WHO guidelines and guides

The WHO Guidelines for emergency risk communication (ERC) policy and practice⁽⁷³⁾ were released in 2017 to provide WHO Member States and other government, public health and community organisations with evidence-based, systems-focused guidance on effective communication and community engagement in public health emergencies. The guidelines were informed by a literature review and expert panel and make recommendations across three strategic areas: i) building trust and engaging with affected populations; ii) integrating ERC into health emergency response systems, and iii) ERC practice. The first strategic area focuses on building trust, communicating uncertainty and community engagement. The second strategic area on emergency response systems focuses on governance and leadership, information systems and coordination, capacity building, and financing. The third area covers strategic communication planning, monitoring and evaluation tools, social media and messaging.

At the start of the COVID-19 outbreak, the World Health Organization released interim guidance to countries on communication and community engagement readiness and initial responses to the COVID-19 outbreak⁽¹⁰⁾. It outlined action steps across six core areas. At the systems level, the checklist emphasises the need for government leadership, establishment of a communication team with clear roles and responsibilities, the development of a communication strategy and procedures, preparation of a communication budget. It also encourages the establishment of multisectoral partnerships and coordination mechanisms, including at the local level. WHO also developed a step-by-step action guide and resource that supports the development of COVID-19 communication and community engagement action plans at national and local levels⁽⁸²⁾.

The WHO Western Pacific Region released guidelines on the role of community engagement in situations of extensive community transmission⁽⁷⁴⁾, which provide advice on community engagement principles, actions and approaches, with an emphasis on partnerships, community networks and community governance structures. The WHO Regional Office for the Americas released guidelines for leaders on how to communicate about COVID-19, which outlined key principles, goals, messages and considerations⁽¹⁰⁶⁾, as well as a guide for preparing a communication strategy specifically on COVID-19 vaccines⁽⁸³⁾. This guide includes an overview of the components of a communication strategy, preparing and disseminating messages, advice on effective communication and key considerations.

WHO strategies and frameworks

There were two COVID-19 strategies and two communication related frameworks identified in this review. The COVID-19 Global Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy⁽⁸⁵⁾ sets out

four key objectives for global action, with corresponding actions. The objectives are: i) community-led; ii) data driven; iii) reinforce capacity and local solutions; and iv) be collaborative. The strategy also provides a global COVID-19 behaviour change framework with a set of key indicators for monitoring the impact of communication and community engagement activities.

The COVID-19 Global Response Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy⁽⁸⁷⁾ is intended to guide national level responses to the pandemic, including advice to governments on working with local level stakeholders. It provides a detailed outline of actions and approaches to be implemented under four transmission scenarios: i) with no cases, ii) with sporadic cases; iii) with clusters of cases; and iv) with large outbreaks and community transmission.

The management of infodemics has been identified as a key priority for the World Health Organization due to the escalation of mis/disinformation during COVID-19. As part of their response to this issue, WHO released a workforce competency framework that aims to build global capacity to manage infodemics⁽⁸⁶⁾. The framework establishes key competencies for the workforce and provides guidance on how to strengthen infodemic management capacity through hiring practices, staff development and human resource planning.

The WHO Strategic Communications Framework for Effective Communications⁽⁸⁴⁾ is targeted at policy makers, health organisations, communities and individuals and has a broad focus on health communication. It specifies six key principles and associated actions and approaches for effective communication, as well as a framework for evaluating communication activities and campaigns.

UNICEF and UN Women guides

UNICEF released three guides to support communication and community engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic. The first of these was developed for use by provincial, district and facility level health teams to support community health organisations and health promotion officers to implement community engagement activities for COVID-19 prevention, detection and response⁽⁷⁸⁾. This guide details community level roles and responsibilities and community engagement actions, as well as specific community awareness and education activities, community feedback mechanisms, and approaches to monitoring and evaluation.

The second provides practical guidance for communication and community engagement with refugees, internally displaced peoples, migrants and communities vulnerable to the COVID-19 pandemic⁽⁷⁹⁾. It includes key considerations and recommendations on partnerships and coordination, communication approaches and channels, and strengthening community capacity.

The third guide focuses specifically on managing vaccine misinformation in communities and provide a step-by-step action guide across four phases: i) preparation; ii) listening; iii) understanding; and iv) engage. It also contains a section on how to set up social listening systems in order to monitor and manage rumours and misinformation⁽¹⁰⁷⁾.

The UN Women guide⁽⁷⁷⁾ provides guidance on how to include marginalised and vulnerable people in communication and community engagement activities, informed by a gender and inclusion lens and recognising the structural facts that make some communities more vulnerable to COVID-19. The guide includes actions for working with specific communities, including migrants and refugees, people with disability, children, pregnant women and the elderly.

7. Bibliography

- World Health Organization. Responding to Community Spread of COVID-19: Interim Guidance. Geneva: WHO; 2020.
- World Health Organization. COVID-19 Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan: Operational Planning Guidelines to Support Country Preparedness and Response. Geneva: WHO; 2020.
- 3. Jha A, Lin L, Short M, Argentini G, Gamhewage G, Savoia E. Integrating emergency risk communication (ERC) into the public health system response: Systematic review of literature to aid formulation of the 2017 WHO Guideline for ERC policy and practice. *PLoS One*. 2018.
- CDAC Network. Improving the Response to COVID-19: Lessons from the Humanitarian Sector Around Communication, Community Engagement and Participation. London; 2020.
- 5. Settlement Council of Australia. Communicating with Migrant and Refugee Communities during COVID-19: Learnings for the Future. Canberra: Settlement Council of Australia; 2020.
- Abell B. Evaluation of a Collective Response Initiative to Engage CALD Communities in COVID-19 Health Communication. Queensland: QUT Centre for Healthcare Transformation; 2021
- 7. Migrant and Refugee Health Partnership. Integrating Culturally, Ethnically and Linguistically Diverse Communities in Rapid Responses to Public Health: Policy Brief. Melbourne: Migrant and Refugee Health Partnership; 2021.
- 8. Ethnic Communities' Council of Victoria. Submission to the Inquiry into the Victorian Government's Reponse to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Melbourne: Ethnic Communities' Council of Victoria; 2020.
- 9. Wild A, Kunstler B, Goodwin D, Onyala S, Zhang L, Kufi M, Salim W, Musse F, Mohideen M, Asthana M, Al-Khafaji M, Geronimo MA, Coase D, Chew E, Micallef E, Skouteris H. Communicating COVID-19 health information to culturally and linguistically diverse communities: Insights from a participatory research collaboration. *Public Health Research and Practice*. 2021;31(1).

- 10. World Health Organization. Risk communication and community engagement readiness and response to coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Interim guidance. Geneva: WHO; 2020.
- 11. Revere D, Nelson K, Thiede H, Duchin J, Stergachis A, Baseman J. Public health emergency preparedness and response communications with health care providers: A literature review. *BMC Public Health*. 2011;11.
- 12. Siegrist M, Zingg A. The role of public trust during pandemics: Implications for crisis communication. *European Psychologist*. 2014;19(1):23-32.
- 13. Toppenberg-Pejcic D, Noyes J, Allen T, Alexander N, Vanderford M, Gamhewage G. Emergency Risk Communication: Lessons Learned from a Rapid Review of Recent Gray Literature on Ebola, Zika and Yellow Fever. *Health Communication*. 2019;34(4):437-55.
- 14. Gilmore B, N'dejjo R, Tchetchia A, de Claro V, Mago E, Diallo AA, Lopes C, Bhattacharyya S. Community engagement for COVID prevention and control: a rapid review evidence synthesis. *BMJ Global Health*. 2020.
- 15. Jong W. Evaluating Crisis Communication. A 30-item Checklist for Assessing Performance during COVID-19 and Other Pandemics. *Journal of Health Communication*. 2020;25(12):962-70.
- 16. Nezafat Maldonado BM, Collins J, Blundell HJ, Singh L. Engaging the vulnerable: A rapid review of public health communication aimed at migrants during the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe. *J Migr Health*. 2020;1:100004.
- 17. Ofrin RH, Buddha N, Htike MM, Bhola AK, Bezbaruah S. Strengthening risk communication systems for public health emergencies in the WHO South-East Asia Region. WHO South-East Asia Journal of Public Health. 2020;9(1):15-20.
- 18. Sufri S, Dwirahmadi F, Phung D, Rutherford S. A systematic review of Community Engagement (CE) in Disaster Early Warning Systems (EWSs). *Progress in Disaster Science*. 2020;5.
- 19. Adebisi YA, Rabe A, Lucero-Prisno DE, III. Risk communication and community engagement strategies for COVID-19 in 13 African countries. *Health Promotion Perspectives*. 2021;11(2):137-47.

- 20. Al Siyabi H, Al Mukhaini S, Kanaan M, Al Sumaya H, Al Anqoudi Z, Al Kalbani A, Al Bahri Z, Wannous C, Al Awaidy S. Community Participation Approaches for Effective National COVID-19 Pandemic Preparedness and Response: An Experience from Oman. *Frontiers in Public Health*. 2021;8.
- 21. Alamgir A, Usmani S, Bhuiyan S, Janczur A. Structuring a Communication Framework to Address the Challenges of Vulnerable Communities for Building Trust and Ensuring Access to Emergency Health Messages for Compliance during COVID-19. *EC Emergency Medicine and Critical Care*. 2021;5(3).
- 22. Hyland-Wood B, Gardner J, Leask J, Ecker UKH. Toward effective government communication strategies in the era of COVID-19. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*. 2021;8(1).
- 23. Loewenson R, Colvin C, Szabzon F, Das S, Khanna R, Schattan P Coelho V, Gansane Z, Yao S, Asibu W, Rome N, Nolan E. Beyond command and control: A rapid review of meaningful community-engaged responses to COVID-19. *Global Public Health*. 2021;16(8-9):1439-53.
- 24. MacKay M, Colangeli T, Thaivalappil A, Del Bianco A, McWhirter J, Papadopoulos A. A Review and Analysis of the Literature on Public Health Emergency Communication Practices. *Journal of Community Health*. 2021.
- 25. Rzymski P, Borkowski L, Drąg M, Flisiak R, Jemielity J, Krajewski J, Mastalerz-Migas A, Matyja A, Pyrć K, Simon K, Sutkowski M, Wysocki J, Zajkowska J, Fal A. The strategies to support the COVID-19 vaccination with evidence-based communication and tackling misinformation. *Vaccines*. 2021;9(2):1-9.
- 26. Tambo E, Djuikoue I, Tazemda G, Fotsing M, Zhou X. Early stage risk communication and community engagement (RCCE) strategies and measures against the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic crisis. *Global Health Journal*. 2021;5:44-50.
- 27. Thomas MJ, Lal V, Baby AK, Rabeeh Vp M, James A, Raj AK. Can technological advancements help to alleviate COVID-19 pandemic? a review. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*. 2021;117.

- 28. Staes CJ, Wuthrich A, Gesteland P, Allison MA, Leecaster M, Shakib JH, Carter ME, Mallin BM, Mottice S, Rolfs R, Pavia AT, Wallace B, Gundlapalli AV, Samore M, Byington CL. Public health communication with frontline clinicians during the first wave of the 2009 influenza pandemic. *J Public Health Manag Pract*. 2011;17(1):36-44.
- 29. Gillespie A, Obregon R, Asawi R, Richey C, Manoncourt E, Joshi K, Naqvi S, Pouye A, Safi N, Chitnis K, Quereshi S. Social Mobilization and Community Engagement Central to the Ebola Response in West Africa: Lessons for Future Public Health Emergencies. *Global Health: Science and Practice*. 2016;4(4).
- 30. Frost M, Li RY, Moolenaar R, Mao Q, Xie R. Progress in public health risk communication in China: lessons learned from SARS to H7N9. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19.
- 31. Stamidis K, Bologna L, Bisrat F, Tadesse T, Tessema F, Kang E. Trust, Communication, and Community Networks: How the CORE Group Polio Project Community Volunteers Led the Fight against Polio in Ethiopia's Most At-Risk Areas. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*. 2019;101.
- 32. Chen CM. Public health messages about COVID-19 prevention in multilingual Taiwan. *Multilingua*. 2020;39(5):597-606.
- 33. Despres C, Aguilar R, McAlister A, Ramirez AG. Communication for Awareness and Action on Inequitable Impacts of COVID-19 on Latinos. *Health Promotion Practice*. 2020;21(6):859-61.
- 34. Kirk Sell T, Ravi S, Watson C, Meyer D, Pechta L, Rose D, Lubell K, Podgornik M, Schoch-Spana M. A Public Health Systems View of Risk Communication about Zika. *Public Health Reports*. 2020;135(3):343-53.
- 35. Lal A, Ashworth H, Dada S, Hoemeke L, Tambo E. Optimizing Pandemic Preparedness and Response Through Health Information Systems: Lessons Learned from Ebola to COVID-19. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*. 2020.
- 36. Le HT, Mai HT, Pham HQ, Nguyen CT, Vu GT, Phung DT, Nghiem SH, Tran BX, Latkin CA, Ho CSH, Ho RCM. Feasibility of Intersectoral Collaboration in Epidemic Preparedness and Response at Grassroots Levels in the Threat

- of COVID-19 Pandemic in Vietnam. *Frontiers in Public Health*. 2020:8.
- 37. Ratzan SC, Sommariva S, Rauh L. Enhancing global health communication during a crisis: Lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Health Research and Practice*. 2020;30(2).
- 38. Sufri S, Dwirahmadi F, Phung D, Rutherford S. Enhancing community engagement in disaster early warning system in Aceh, Indonesia: opportunities and challenges. *Natural Hazards*. 2020;103(3):2691-709.
- 39. Zhang J, Wu Y. Providing multilingual logistics communication in COVID-19 disaster relief. *Multilingua*. 2020;39(5):517-28.
- 40. Ahmad R, Hillman S. Laboring to communicate: Use of migrant languages in COVID-19 awareness campaign in Qatar. *Multilingua*. 2021;40(3):303-37.
- 41. Brekke J. Informing hard-to-reach immigrant groups about COVID-19 Reaching the Somali population in Oslo. Journal of *Refugee Studies*. 2021.
- 42. Cernicova-Buca M, Palea A. An appraisal of communication practices demonstrated by romanian district public health authorities at the outbreak of the covid-19 pandemic. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*. 2021;13(5):1-20.
- 43. Driedger M, Maier R, Capurro G, Jardine C. Drawing from the 'bank of credibility': perspectives of health officials and the public on media handling of the H1N1 pandemic. *Journal of Risk Research*. 2021.
- 44. Ha B, Ngoc Quang L, Quoc Thanh P, Duc D, Mirzoev T, Bui T. Community engagement in the prevention and control of COVID-19: Insights from Vietnam. *PLoS One*. 2021;16(9).
- 45. Khamis RM, Geng Y. Social media usage in health communication and its implications on public health security: A case study of covid-19 in Zanzibar. *Online Journal of Communication and Media Technologies*. 2021;11(1).
- 46. Sanjeev MA, Pande N, Santosh Kumar PK. Role of effective crisis communication by the government in managing the first wave Covid-19 pandemic A study of Kerala government's success. *Journal of Public Affairs*. 2021.

- 47. Sommariva S, Mote J, Ballester Bon H, Razafindraibe H, Ratovozanany D, Rasoamanana V, Abeyesekera S, Muhamedkhojaeva P, Bashar T, James J, Sani M. Social Listening in Eastern and Southern Africa, a UNICEF Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy to Address the COVID-19 Infodemic. *Health Security*. 2021;19(1).
- 48. Zenone MA, Cianfrone M, Sharma R, Majid S, Rakhra J, Cruz K, Costales S, Sekhon M, Mathias S, Tugwell A, Barbic S. Supporting youth 12-24 during the COVID-19 pandemic: how Foundry is mobilizing to provide information, resources and hope across the province of British Columbia. *Glob Health Promot.* 2021;28(1):51-9.
- 49. Zhang H, Li Y, Dolan C, Song Z. Observations from Wuhan: An Adaptive Risk and Crisis Communication System for a Health Emergency. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. 2021;14:3179-93.
- 50. Zhang L, Li H, Chen K. Effective Risk Communication for Public Health Emergency: Reflection on the COVID-19 (2019-nCoV) Outbreak in Wuhan, China. *Healthcare*. 2021;8(64).
- 51. Arghittu A, Dettori M, Dempsey E, Deiana G, Angelini C, Bechini A, Bertoni C, Boccalini S, Bonanni P, Cinquetti S, Chiesi F, Chironna M, Costantino C, Ferro A, Fiacchini D, Icardi G, Poscia A, Russo F, Siddu A, Spadea A, Sticchi L, Triassi M, Vitale F, Castiglia P. Health Communication in COVID-19 Era: Experiences from the Italian VaccinarSì Network Websites. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(11).
- 52. Bartels SM, Gora Combs K, Lazard AJ, Shelus V, Davis CH, Rothschild A, Drewry M, Carpenter K, Newman E, Goldblatt A, Dasgupta N, Hill LM, Ribisl KM. Development and Application of an Interdisciplinary Rapid Message Testing Model for COVID-19 in North Carolina. *Public Health Reports*. 2021;136(4):413-20.
- 53. Lauder AF, Lauder MRMT, Kiftiawati K. Preserving and empowering local languages amidst the Covid-19 pandemic: Lessons from East Kalimantan. *Wacana*. 2021;22(2):439-66.

- 54. Ritter AZ, Aronowitz S, Leininger L, Jones M, Dowd JB, Albrecht S, Buttenheim AM, Simanek AM, Hale L, Kumar A. Dear Pandemic: Nurses as key partners in fighting the COVID-19 infodemic. *Public Health Nursing*. 2021;38(4):603-9.
- 55. Vilendrer S, Amano A, Brown Johnson CG, Favet M, Safaeinili N, Villasenor J, Shaw JG, Hertelendy AJ, Asch SM, Mahoney M. An App-Based Intervention to Support First Responders and Essential Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Needs Assessment and Mixed Methods Implementation Study. *J Med Internet Res.* 2021;23(5):e26573.
- 56. Airhihenbuwa CO, Iwelunmor J, Munodawafa D, Ford CL, Oni T, Agyemang C, Mota C, Ikuomola OB, Simbayi L, Fallah MP, Qian Z, Makinwa B, Niang C, Okosun I. Culture Matters in Communicating the Global Response to COVID-19. *Preventing Chronic Disease*. 2020;17:1-8.
- 57. Ekzayez A, al-Khalil M, Jasiem M, Saleh RA, Alzoubi Z, Meagher K, Patel P. COVID-19 response in northwest Syria: innovation and community engagement in a complex conflict. *Journal of Public Health*. 2020;42(3):504-9.
- 58. Finlay S, Wenitong M. Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations are taking a leading role in COVID-19 health communication. *Aust N Z J Public Health*. 2020;44(4):251-2.
- 59. Hu G, Qiu W. From guidance to practice: Promoting risk communication and community engagement for prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak in China. *Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine*. 2020;13(2):168-72.
- 60. Mheidly N, Fares J. Leveraging media and health communication strategies to overcome the COVID-19 infodemic. *Journal of Public Health Policy*. 2020;41(4):410-20.
- 61. Morgan-Daniel J, Ansell M, Adkins LE. COVID-19 Patient Education and Consumer Health Information Resources and Services. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*. 2020;24(3):302-13.
- 62. O'Brien S, Federici FM. Crisis translation: considering language needs in multilingual disaster settings. *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal*. 2020;29(2):129-43.

- 63. Rains SA, Crane TE, Iyengar S, Merchant N, Oxnam M, Sprinkle MM, Ernst KC. Community-Level Health Promotion during a Pandemic: Key Considerations for Health Communication. *Health Commun*. 2020;35(14):1747-9.
- 64. Katzman JG, Katzman JW. Primary
 Care Clinicians as COVID-19 Vaccine
 Ambassadors. *J Prim Care Community Health*.
 2021;12:21501327211007026.
- 65. Malecki KMC, Keating JA, Safdar N. Crisis Communication and Public Perception of COVID-19 Risk in the Era of Social Media. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2021;72(4):697-702.
- 66. Wells KJ, Dwyer AJ, Calhoun E, Valverde PA. Community health workers and non-clinical patient navigators: A critical COVID-19 pandemic workforce. *Prev Med.* 2021;146:106464.
- 67. Furstrand D, Pihl A, Orbe EB, Kingod N, Søndergaard J. "Ask a Doctor About Coronavirus": How Physicians on Social Media Can Provide Valid Health Information During a Pandemic. *J Med Internet Res.* 2021;23(4):e24586.
- 68. Mudera CP, Bavdekar RD, Kumar N, Veiraiah A, Nair RK. Reaching Out to the Millions: A 5 Key Messages Rapid IEC Campaign During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Quarterly of Community Health Education*. 2021.
- 69. O'Keefe VM, Maudrie TL, Ingalls A, Kee C, Masten KL, Barlow A, Haroz EE. Development and Dissemination of a Strengths-Based Indigenous Children's Storybook: "Our Smallest Warriors, Our Strongest Medicine: Overcoming COVID-19". Frontiers in Sociology. 2021;6.
- 70. Riley AH, Sangalang A, Critchlow E, Brown N, Mitra R, Campos Nesme B. Entertainment-Education Campaigns and COVID-19: How Three Global Organizations Adapted the Health Communication Strategy for Pandemic Response and Takeaways for the Future. *Health Communication*. 2021;36(1):42-9.
- 71. Dichter JR, Kanter RK, Dries D, Luyckx V, Lim ML, Wilgis J, Anderson MR, Sarani B, Hupert N, Mutter R, Devereaux AV, Christian MD, Kissoon N, Task Force for Mass Critical C. System-level planning, coordination, and communication: Care of the critically ill and injured during pandemics and disasters: CHEST consensus statement. *Chest.* 2014;146:e87S-e102S.

- 72. Adebayo G, Neumark Y, Gesser-Edelsburg A, Ahmad WA, Levine H. Zika pandemic online trends, incidence and health risk communication: A time trend study. *BMJ Global Health*. 2017;2(3).
- 73. World Health Organization. Communicating risk in public health emergencies: A WHO guideline for emergency risk communication (ERC) policy and practice. Geneva: WHO; 2017.
- 74. World Health Organization Western Pacific Region. Role of community engagement in situations of extensive community transmission on COVID-19. Manilla: WHO Western Pacific Region; 2020.
- 75. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. Crisis and Emergency Risk Communication Manual. Atlanta: CDC; 2014.
- 76. CDAC Network. Collective Communication and Community Engagement in Humanitarian Action. London; 2019.
- 77. UN Women. COVID-19: How to include marginalized and vulnerable people in risk communication and community engagement. New York: UN Women; 2020.
- 78. UNICEF. Sub-National Risk Communication & Community Engagement Implementation Field Guide to Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19). New York: UNICEF: 2020.
- 79. UNICEF. Practical Guidance for Risk Communication and Community Engagement (RCCE) for Refugees, Internally Displaced Persons, Migrants, and Host Communities Particularly Vulnerable to COVID-19 Pandemic. New York: UNICEF; 2020.
- 80. UNICEF. Vaccine Misinformation Management Field Guide: Guidance for addressing a global infodemic and fostering demand for immunization. New York: UNICEF; 2020.
- 81. United States Agency for International Development. *Step-by-Step: Engaging Communities During COVID-19*. Washington: USAID; 2020.
- 82. World Health Organization. RCCE Action Plan Guidance: COVID-19 Preparedness & Response. Geneva: WHO; 2020.

- 83. Pan American Health Organization. Guide for the Preparation of a Risk Communication Strategy for COVID-19 Vaccines: A Resource for the Countries of the Americas. Washington: PAHO; 2021.
- 84. World Health Organization. WHO Strategic Communications Framework for Effective Communications. Geneva: WHO; 2017.
- 85. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Global Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy: Interim Guidance. Geneva: WHO; 2020.
- 86. World Health Organization. WHO Competency Framework: Building a Response Workforce to Manage Infodemics. Geneva: WHO; 2021.
- 87. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Global Response: Risk Communication & Community Engagement (RCCE) Strategy All Partners. Geneva: WHO; 2021.
- 88. International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. *New Coronavirus Risk Communication and Community Engagement Strategy.* Geneva: IFRC; 2020.
- 89. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. *COVID- 19 Vaccine Communications Strategy*. India: Government of India; 2021.
- 90. Turner MM, Shaikh H, Rimal RN. Ebola Risk Communication Project in Liberia: Lessons in Crisis Communication. Washington: George Washington University; 2016.
- 91. Centre for Media and Social Impact. PEG Access Media: Local Communication Hubs in a Pandemic. Washington; 2020.
- 92. Community Language Information Network Group. Communicating with Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) Communities During Disaster: Observations and Recommendations from New Zealand's COVID-19 Response. New Zealand: CLING; 2020.
- 93. Norwegian Refugee Council. Engaging Communities During a Pandemic: Experiences of Community Engagement During the COVID-19 Response in and Out-of-Camp Settings. Norway2020.

- 94. Christchurch City Council. Best Practice Guidelines: Engaging with Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CALD) Communities in Times of Disaster. Christchurch: Christchurch City Council; 2021.
- 95. Office for Economic Cooperation and Development. Enabling Public Trust in COVID-19 Vaccination: The Role of Governments. Paris: OECD; 2021.
- 96. Seale H. Enhancing and Supporting the COVID-19 Vaccination Program Focusing on Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Communities. Sydney: University of New South Wales: 2021.
- 97. United States Agency for International Development. Effects of faith actor engagement in the uptake and coverage of immunization in low and middle-income countries. Washington: USAID; 2021.
- 98. Yendell A, Hidalgo O, Hillenbrand C. The Role of Religious Actors in the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Theory-Based Empirical Analysis with Policy Recommendations for Action. Germany; 2021.
- 99. Ethnic Communities' Council of Victoria.
 Communicating About COVID-19: Health
 Literacy and Language Services During the
 Pandemic. Melbourne: Ethnic Communities'
 Council of Victoria; 2020.
- 100. Seale H, Leask J, Danchin M, Attwell K, Clark K, Cashman P, Frawley J, Kaufman J, Wiley K. *A COVID-19 Vaccination Strategy to Support Uptake Amongst Australians*. Sydney: Collaboration on Social Science and Immunisation; 2020.
- 101. Social Science in Humanitarian Action. Key Considerations: Online Information, Mis- and Disinformation in the Context of COVID-19. London: Social Science in Humanitarian Action; 2020.
- 102.Borders TW. Do You Speak COVID-19?
 The Importance of Lanugage for Effective
 Communication Across the Response. United
 States: Translators Without Borders; 2020.
- 103. Refugees UNHCf. Risk Communication and Community Engagement: Positive Practices from Europe During COVID. Geneva: UNHCR; 2020.

- 104. The Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response. Centering communities in pandemic preparedness and response: Background Paper 10. Geneva: The Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response; 2021.
- 105.Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response. Communication, Community Engagment, COVID-19 and Preparing for Future Pandemics. Geneva: Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response; 2021.
- 106.Pan American Health Organization. COVID-19 Guidelines for Communicating about coronavirus disease 2019: A Guide for Leaders. Washington: PAHO; 2020.
- 107.Ukraine health emergency. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*. 2014;92(10):700-1.

